

Notice is hereby given that a MEETING of the COUNCIL OF THE BOROUGH OF GOSPORT will be held in the TOWN HALL, GOSPORT on WEDNESDAY the TWENTY FOURTH DAY of NOVEMBER 2010 at 6.00pm AND ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL ARE HEREBY SUMMONED TO ATTEND TO CONSIDER AND RESOLVE THE FOLLOWING BUSINESS —

- 1. To receive apologies from Members for their inability to attend the Meeting.
- 2. To confirm the Minutes of the Extraordinary and Ordinary Meetings of the Council held on 29 September 2010 (copies herewith).
- 3. To consider any Mayor's Communications.
- 4. To receive Deputations in accordance with Standing Order No 3.5 and to answer Public Questions pursuant to Standing Order No 3.6, such questions to be answered orally during a time not exceeding 15 minutes.

(NOTE: Standing Order No 3.5 requires that notice of a Deputation should be received by the Borough Solicitor NOT LATER THAN 12 O'CLOCK NOON ON MONDAY, 22 NOVEMBER 2010 and likewise Standing Order No 3.6 requires that notice of a Public Question should be received by the Borough Solicitor NOT LATER THAN 12 O'CLOCK NOON ON MONDAY, 22 NOVEMBER 2010).

5. Questions (if any) pursuant to Standing Order No 3.4.

(NOTE: Members are reminded that Standing Order No 3.4 requires that Notice of Question pursuant to that Standing Order must be received by the Borough Solicitor NOT LATER THAN 12 O'CLOCK NOON ON TUESDAY, 23 NOVEMBER 2010).

6. Consideration of recommendations by the Boards of the Council:-

BOARD DATE

Policy & Organisation Board

10 November 2010

- 7. To receive the following Part II minutes of the Boards of the Council:
  - Policy and Organisation Board: 10 November 2010
  - Community and Environment Board: 1 November 2010
  - Housing Board: 3 November 2010
- 8. Royan Twinning

To consider the report of the Borough Solicitor (copy herewith).

9. Regulation of Watermen in Portsmouth Harbour

To consider the report of the Borough Solicitor (copy herewith)

10. Centre Management Committee at Bridgemary Community Sports College

To appoint a council representative to serve on the above Committee.

IAN LYCETT CHIEF EXECUTIVE

## TOWN HALL GOSPORT

16 November 2010

#### **FIRE PRECAUTIONS**

(To be read from the Chair if members of the public are present)

In the event of the fire alarm (single continuous sound) being activated, please leave the Council Chamber and Public Gallery immediately. Proceed downstairs by way of the main stairs or as directed by GBC staff, follow any of the emergency exit signs. People with disability or mobility issues please identify yourself to GBC staff who will assist in your evacuation of the building.

#### MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO NOTE THAT:

- (1) IF THE COUNCIL WISHES TO CONTINUE ITS BUSINESS BEYOND 9.30PM THEN THE MAYOR MUST MOVE SUCH A PROPOSITION IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING ORDER 4.11.18
- (2) MOBILE PHONES SHOULD BE SWITCHED OFF FOR THE DURATION OF THE MEETING

#### AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 (i)

REPORT TO: COUNCIL

**DATE OF MEETING: 24 NOVEMBER 2010** 

REPORT BY: COUNCILLOR HOOK (CHAIRMAN OF THE POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD)

At its meeting on 10 November 2010, the Policy and Organisation Board considered a report on the following item and made the following recommendation to Full Council.

## ADOPTION OF REVISED STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 2003 (APPENDIX PO1)

RECOMMENDATION: That:

- a) the revised Statement of Licensing Policy, as set out in Appendix A of the report of the Environmental Services Manager, be adopted; and
- b) the scheme of delegation set out in the original Statement of Licensing Policy, and repeated in the revised policy at Appendix A of the report of the Environment Services Manager, continue to be incorporated into the Council's Constitution and Authority be delegated to the Borough Solicitor to make any necessary and any consequential amendments to the Constitution.

#### APPENDIX PO1

<b>Board/Committee:</b>	Licensing Board
Date of Meeting:	14 <sup>th</sup> September 2010
Title:	Adoption of Revised Statement of Licensing Policy
	under the Licensing Act 2003
Author:	Environmental Services Manager
Status:	FOR RECOMMENDATION TO THE POLICY AND
	ORGANISATION BOARD

#### **Purpose**

To approve adoption of a revised Gosport Borough Council Statement of Licensing Policy.

#### **Recommendation**

That the Licensing Board recommends to Policy and Organisation Board

- 1. That the revised Statement of Licensing Policy, as set out in Appendix A to this report, is adopted.
- 2. That the scheme of delegation set out in the original Statement of Licensing Policy, and repeated in the revised policy at Appendix A, continues to be incorporated into the Council's Constitution and Authority is delegated to the Borough Solicitor to make any necessary and any consequential amendments to the Constitution.

#### 1 Background

1.1 The Licensing Act 2003 ('the Act'), transferred responsibility for the licensing of all premises that sell alcohol and or provide licensable activities to local authorities. The Act requires local authorities when carrying out their functions, known as the Licensing Functions, to have regard to their own Statement of Licensing Policy and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State under the Act. The Licensing Authority is required to review their Statement of Licensing Policy every three years.

#### 2 Report

2.1 A revised Statement of Licensing Policy has been prepared incorporating changes in the statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State. The changes reflect the maturing nature of the licensing regime. Matters relating to the recent changes to licences issued under Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982) have been included in the policy. The opportunity has been taken to reference the Statement of Licensing Policy to the recently published the Department of Culture Media and Sport (DCMS)

- amended Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 March 2010.
- 2.2 The original Statement of Licensing Policy ('the Licensing Statement') for the Council was developed in conjunction with other local authorities in Hampshire. The revised policy incorporates this document with appropriate updates. This policy is attached as Appendix A
- 2.3 The Statement of Licensing Policy provides guidance for officers and members when carrying out licensing functions including determining applications that are subject to representations or reviews by relevant authorities or the public.

The Act provides for 4 types of licence:-

- a) Premises licences
- b) Club Premises Certificates
- c) Temporary Event Notices
- d) Personal licences.
- 2.4 The Act and the Secretary of State's subsequent guidance make it clear that the Council must carry out its licensing functions with a view to promoting the Licensing Objectives contained within the Act.

  These are:
  - a) The prevention of crime and disorder
  - b) Public safety
  - c) The prevention of public nuisance
  - d) The protection of children from harm.
- 2.5 The Statement of Licensing Policy has to be applied in a manner which promotes the Licensing Objectives and must not ignore or be inconsistent with the provisions of the Act.
- 2.6 As part of the process of revising the Statement of Licensing Policy the Authority has consulted with a number of stakeholders. Details of the consultation process are attached as Appendix B.
- 2.7 The Statement of Licensing Policy sets out the delegation of functions to the Licensing Sub Committees and officers in accordance with the statute and the guidance issued by the Secretary of State. These delegations will need to continue to be incorporated into the Council's Constitution.

#### 3 Risk Assessment

3.1 The Council must have a Statement of Licensing Policy. The statement must be reviewed every 3 years once adopted to comply with Central Government requirements.

#### 4 Conclusion

- 4.1 The revised Statement of Licensing Policy attached as Appendix A has been subject to consultation.
- 4.2 The Statement of Licensing Policy is subject to review on a triennial Basis. This allows for further modification to the policy as experience in matters relating to the Act develops and to reflect other legislative changes.
- 4.3 The revised Statement of Licensing Policy has been updated to incorporate revisions to the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182 of the Act, the Health Act 2006. Matters relating to the recent changes to licences issued under Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982) have been included in the policy. There have only been minor local amendments to the remainder of the original document which is still seen as fit for purpose.

Financial Services comments:	None
Legal Services comments:	Contained in the Report
Service Improvement Plan	
implications:	
Corporate Plan:	
Risk Assessment:	
Background papers:	
Appendices/Enclosures:	
Appendix 'A'	Gosport Borough Council's Revised
	Statement of Licensing Policy
Appendix 'B'	Appendix B, Details of the consultation
	process for the review of the Statement of
	Licensing Policy.
Report author/ Lead Officer:	D Jago, Environmental Services Manager

#### **APPENDIX A**

Gosport Borough Council's Revised Statement of Licensing Policy

#### NOTICE OF PUBLIC CONSULTATION OF REVIEW OF THE GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2011 – 2014

The Licensing Act 2003 Section 5 (1) requires that the licensing authority must in respect of each three year period determine its policy with respect to the exercise of its licensing functions, and publish a statement of that policy (a "licensing statement") before the beginning of the period.

By copy of this notice the draft Review of Gosport Borough Council of Statement of Licensing Policy 2011 – 2014 will be published on Monday 5<sup>th</sup> July 2010. The final approved Revised Gosport Borough Council of Statement of Licensing Policy 2011 – 2014 will be published and come into effect on 7<sup>th</sup> January 2011. The draft Revision of Gosport Borough Council of Statement of Licensing Policy 20011 – 2014 will be published for viewing on Gosport Borough Council's website <a href="https://www.gosport.gov.uk">www.gosport.gov.uk</a>. Printed Copies will be placed in local public libraries and a copy of the Draft Review of Statement of Licensing Policy can be viewed during normal office hours at the Environmental Services Public Counter 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Town Hall High Street Gosport PO12 1EB. Any person wishing to make comment on the Gosport Borough Council Draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2011 - 2014 should do so by submitting their comment in writing to The Borough Solicitor Gosport Borough Council Town Hall High Street Gosport PO12 1EB so that it arrives no later than 5<sup>th</sup> October 2010.

#### Linda Edwards

The Borough Solicitor
Gosport Borough Council,
Town Hall,
High Street,
Gosport
PO12 1EB



## **LICENSING ACT 2003**

# DRAFT STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY

2011 to 2014

### **CONTENTS**

Part 1 **Background** Part 2 Introduction Types of Licence, Certificate and Part 3 **Notice Licensing Policies & Matters for** Part 4 **Consideration by Applicants Appendix A: Schedule of Delegation Appendix B: Responsible Authorities Appendix C: Licensing Authority's Certificate of Display of Notices Appendix D: Licensing Authority's Certificate of Service** 

#### GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENSING ACT 2003 SECTION 5

## Statement of Licensing Policy 2011 - 2014

A licensing policy as determined by the Council in respect of its licensing functions for the three year period commencing 7 January 2011 is set out in this Statement of Licensing Policy. During the three year period the Policy will be kept under review and the Council will make such revisions to it, at such times, as it considers appropriate. Further Statements will be published every three years thereafter.

#### **PART 1: BACKGROUND**

- 1.1 Gosport is situated in the County of Hampshire and has a large number of licensed premises. The Council recognises that licensed premises are an important part of the Borough and are major contributors to the local economy, attracting tourists and visitors, and making for vibrant towns and communities, whilst at the same time providing employment.
- 1.2 At June 2010 there were 266 premises in the borough that require licensing under the Act. These premises include:
- public houses and nightclubs
- off licences
- hot food take aways operating between 23:00 and 05:00
- hotels, guest houses, restaurants and other places that sell alcohol
- private members clubs and social clubs
- theatres and amateur dramatic groups
- premises where indoor sporting events take place
- 1.3 In addition, any provision of entertainment by way of a cinema will also fall under the licensing requirements.

#### Other Legislation

1.4 Prior to submitting an application to the Licensing Authority the applicant must ensure that there is appropriate current planning permission for the hours and activities for which application is being made.

- 1.5 The Licensing Authority recognises that there should be a clear separation of the planning and licensing systems and licensing applications will be viewed independently of planning applications. Licensing applications are not a re-run of the planning application and should not cut across decisions taken by the Regulatory Board or following appeals against decisions by that Board. The granting Licensing Board, where appropriate, will provide reports to the Regulatory Board on the situation regarding licensed premises in the area including the general impact of alcohol-related crime and disorder.
- 1.6 Furthermore premises must comply with all other relevant legislation, e.g.
  - Food Safety Act 1990
  - Health & Safety at Work etc Act 1974
  - Disability Discrimination Act 1995
  - Building Regulations 2000
  - The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003
  - The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
  - The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006
  - The Health Act 2006
  - Policing and Crime Act 2009
- 1.7 The Licensing Authority will seek to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes as far as possible. However, if other statutes do not cover the unique circumstances that arise in connection with, for example, entertainment at specified premises then additional controls may be imposed
- 1.8 The Licensing Authority will work with other Local authorities, particularly those with whom boundaries are shared, to ensure a consistent approach is taken to licensing issues whilst respecting the differing needs of the individual communities.

#### **PART 2: INTRODUCTION**

- 2.1 Gosport Borough Council ("the Council") is the Licensing Authority pursuant to the Licensing Act 2003 ("the Act") and is responsible for considering all applications for licensable activities, as defined in Part 1 of the Act. The purpose of licensing is to regulate licensable activities on licensed premises, by qualifying clubs and at temporary events. Licensable activities, identified by the Act are:
  - The sale by retail of alcohol,
  - Supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club,
  - Provision of regulated entertainment, and

• The provision of late night refreshment

The following licensable activities are also qualifying club activities:

- The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club,
- The sale by retail of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to a guest of a member of the club for consumption on the premises where the sale takes place, and
- The provision of regulated entertainment where that provision is by or on behalf of a club for members of the club or members of the club and their guests

In the Act, references to the supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club to, or to the order of, a member of the club do not include a reference to any supply which is a sale by retail of alcohol.

The descriptions of entertainment are:

- a) A performance of a play,
- b) An exhibition of a film,
- c) An indoor sporting event,
- d) A boxing or wrestling entertainment,
- e) A performance of live music,
- f) Any playing of recorded music,
- g) A performance of dance,
- h) Entertainment of a similar description to that falling within paragraph (e), (f) or (g),

where the entertainment takes place in the presence of an audience and is provided for the purpose, or for purposes which include the purpose, of entertaining that audience.

- 2.2 There are a number of exceptions and details of these are set out in Sections 173 to 175 of the Act.
- 2.3 This Statement of Licensing Policy has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Act and having regard to the Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act. Where revisions to the Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act are issued by the Secretary of State there may be a period of time when this Policy is inconsistent with the Guidance. In these circumstances the Licensing Authority should have regard and give appropriate weight to the Guidance and its own licensing policy statement.
- 2.4 The Policy will be kept under review and where any amendments are considered necessary these will only be made after consultation has taken place in accordance with Section 5(3) of the Act. Appropriate weight shall be given to the views of all those consulted. Those to be consulted will include:

- The Chief Officer of Police for Hampshire
- The Chief Officer of Hampshire Fire & Rescue Service
- Bodies representing local holders of premises licences
- Bodies representing local holders of club premises certificates
- Bodies representing local holders of personal licences
- Hampshire Social Services, Area Child Protection Team
- Bodies representing businesses and residents in the Licensing Authority's area
- The Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP)
- Any other bodies the Licensing Authority deems appropriate

The Licensing Authority may hold open meetings a necessary, well publicised amongst the community, at which the community can express how well it feels the licensing objectives are being met.

The Licensing Authority consults widely and follows the Consultation Guidance published by the Cabinet Office to allow all persons sufficient opportunity to comment on and influence local policy. A full list of those consulted is available from the Environmental Health Section, Environmental Services Unit.

2.5 The Licensing Authority recognises that the best means of promoting the Licensing Objectives (see 2.6 below) is through the co-operation and partnership of local authorities, the police, local business, performers, local people and those involved in child protection. As such, we will establish a local forum which will include these partners.

#### **Licensing Objectives**

- 2.6 When dealing with licensing matters the Licensing Authority will promote and have regard to the four licensing objectives set out in the Act. These are:
  - The prevention of crime and disorder,
  - Public safety,
  - The prevention of public nuisance and
  - The protection of children from harm.
- 2.7 The Licensing Authority's primary focus is the direct impact of activities taking place at licensed premises on members of the public who are living, working or engaged in normal activity in the vicinity of the premises/place concerned. Licensing law is not a mechanism for the general control of anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from the premises/place and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, business or club holding the licence or certificate concerned.

2.8 Accordingly, any conditions attached to the licence/certificate will centre on the premises and places being used for licensable activities and the vicinity of those premises and places. Whether or not an instance can be regarded as being in the vicinity of licensed premises or places is a question of fact and will depend on the particular circumstances of the case.

#### **Integration of Strategies**

- 2.9 The Licensing Authority will take into consideration the following in so far as they are relevant to the licensing objectives. The Licensing Board will receive, when appropriate, reports on:
  - The needs of the local tourist economy
  - The cultural strategy for the district and the Licensing Authority's wish to encourage and promote live music, dancing and theatre to the wider cultural benefit of its community
  - The employment situation in the district and the need for investment and employment where appropriate.
- 2.10 There are many stakeholders in the leisure industry. Many are involved, directly or indirectly, in the promotion of the Licensing Objectives, particularly those relating to the prevention of crime and disorder and public nuisance.
- 2.11 The Licensing Authority will ensure at all times that it takes into account the views of these stakeholders and ensures proper integration of local crime prevention, planning, transport, tourism and cultural strategies. The Licensing Authority will work closely with the police and Hampshire County Council Trading Standards Service on issues of enforcement. Where appropriate, neighbouring authorities and their parish councils will also be consulted.
- 2.12 Conditions attached to premises licences and club premises certificates will, so far as possible, reflect local crime prevention strategies.

#### **Cumulative Impact of a Number of Licensed Premises in One Area**

2.13 The Licensing Authority will not take 'need' into account when considering an application, as this is a matter for planning development control and the market. However, it recognises that the cumulative impact of the number, type and density of licensed premises in a given area may lead to serious problems of nuisance and disorder both in the vicinity of and at some distance from the premises.

- 2.14 Representations may be received from a responsible authority/interested party that an area has become saturated with premises making it a focal point for large groups of people to gather and circulate away from the licensed premises themselves. This concentration of premises may be creating exceptional problems of disorder and nuisance over and above the impact from the individual premises.
- 2.15 In these circumstances, the Licensing Authority may consider that the imposition of conditions is unlikely to address these problems and may consider the adoption of a special policy of refusing new premises licences or club premises certificates if it believes that there is a cumulative impact in the area from existing premises and the granting of any more would undermine one of the licensing objectives.
- 2.16 The Licensing Authority does not consider there to be any particular concentrations of licensed premises in any parts of its area considered to be already causing a cumulative impact on one or more of the licensing objectives.

#### Other Controls on Anti-social Behaviour

- 2.17 Other mechanisms exist to control the anti-social behaviour of a minority of consumers who behave badly and unlawfully after leaving licensed premises etc. These controls include:
  - Planning controls
  - Positive measures to create a safe and clean town centre environment in partnership with local businesses, transport operators and other departments of the Local Authority.
  - The provision of CCTV surveillance in town centres, ample taxi ranks, provisions of public conveniences open late at night, street cleaning and litter patrols.
  - Powers of local authorities to designate parts of their area as places where alcohol may not to be consumed publicly.
  - Police enforcement of the general law concerning disorder and antisocial behaviour including the issuing of fixed penalty notices.
  - The prosecution of any personal licence holder or member of staff at licensed premises who is selling alcohol to people who are drunk.
  - The confiscations of alcohol from adults and children in designated areas.

- Police powers to close down instantly for up to 24 hours any licensed premises or temporary events on grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder or excessive noise emanating from the premises causing a nuisance.
- The power of the Police and other responsible authorities or a local resident or business to seek a review of the licence or certificate in question.

#### **Drinking on the Streets**

- 2.18 Local authorities are empowered under section 13 of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 to make Designated Public Place Orders (DPPOs) to control the consumption of alcohol in a public place outside of licensed premises. Orders made by the Council under the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001 to control the drinking of alcohol in the streets will be regularly reviewed as part of the licensing policy review. Gosport Borough Council has implemented a DPPO to encompass the entire Borough of Gosport.
- 2.19 The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 provides for powers for Local authorities and police to designate Alcohol Disorder Zones (ADZs) as a last resort to tackle alcohol related crime and disorder

#### **Licensing Hours**

2.20 Consideration will be given to the individual merits of an application when determining licensing hours. Flexible licensing hours relating to the sale of alcohol are important to ensure that concentrations of customers leaving premises simultaneously are avoided. It is hoped that longer hours will also result in a reduction in binge drinking at the end of an evening. This is necessary to reduce friction leading to problems of disorder and disturbance at late night food outlets, taxi ranks and other sources of transport.

#### Conditions

- 2.21 Where the responsible authorities and interested parties do not raise any representations about the application made to the Licensing Authority it is the duty of the Licensing Authority to grant the licence or certificate subject only to conditions that are consistent with the operating schedule or club operating schedule and any mandatory conditions prescribed in the 2003 Act itself.
- 2.22 A key concept of the Act is that conditions attached to licences and certificates should be tailored to the individual style and characteristics

of the premises and events concerned. Accordingly, conditions will only be imposed to the extent that the Licensing Authority considers them necessary to promote the Licensing Objectives arising out of consideration of representations received. They will focus on matters that are within the control of individual licensees or others in control of relevant activities. The conditions imposed will be drawn from a pool of conditions amended where necessary. These will be based on those matters contained in the *Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 - Appendix D Pool of Conditions.* 

For further information see the DCMS Website www.culture.gov.uk/

#### **Live Music, Dancing and Theatre**

- 2.23 The Licensing Authority recognises that as part of implementing any cultural strategy as may from time to time apply, proper account will need to be taken to encourage and promote live music, dancing and theatre for the wider cultural benefit of the community. Conditions to be imposed on relevant licences will not discourage the promotion of such entertainment but will relate solely to the promotion of the licensing objectives.
- 2.24 To ensure that cultural diversity thrives, the Council has been issued a number of premises licences by the Licensing Authority for public spaces in the community in their own name.

#### **Enforcement**

2.25 The Licensing Authority has established protocols with the local Police, Trading Standards Service and Fire and Rescue Authority on enforcement issues. This will enable the more efficient deployment of local authority staff, Police Officers, Trading Standards Officers and Fire Officers who are commonly engaged in enforcing licensing law and the inspection of licensed premises. The aim of the protocol will be to target agreed problem and high risk premises which require greater attention while providing a lighter touch in respect of low risk premises which are well run.

#### Closure

2.26 The provisions of Part 8 of the Licensing Act 2003 enable a senior police officer to close down instantly for up to 24 hours licensed premises and premises carrying on temporary permitted activities that are causing nuisance resulting from noise emanating from the premises. Guidance to the police powers to close premises can be found on the DCMS website. For further information see the <a href="DCMS">DCMS</a> Website

- 2.27 The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 (the Policing and Crime Act 2009 amends the offence of persistently selling alcohol to children so that the offence is committed if alcohol is sold to an individual under the age of 18 on two or more occasions within three months) allows a closure notice to be offered as an alternative to prosecution under Section 147A of the 2003 Act for persistently selling alcohol to children. That offence may be committed by the holder of a premises licence if on two or more occasions within 3 consecutive months alcohol is sold unlawfully to an individual aged under 18 on the premises to which the licence relates. If he considers on the evidence that there is a realistic prospect of conviction of the licence holder for such an offence a police officer of the rank of Superintendent or an Inspector of Weights and Measures may give a closure notice under the Act proposing that the premises concerned be "closed" (that is alcohol sales be prohibited) for a period of up to 48 hours beginning not less than 14 days after the date of the closure notice is served.
- 2.28 The Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 provides that if noise from any licensed premises is causing a public nuisance, an authorised officer will have the power to issue a closure order in respect of the premises effective for up to 24 hours. Under this provision, it is for the Chief Executive of the local authority to delegate their power to Environmental Health Officers within their authority.
- 2.29 The Fire Safety Order 2005 covers general fire precautions and other fire safety duties which are needed to protect relevant persons in case of fire in and around most premises. The local fire and rescue authority will enforce the Order in most premises and have the power to check the responsible person is complying with their duties under the Order. If the enforcing authority is dissatisfied with the outcome of a fire risk assessment or the action taken they may issue, in extreme cases, a prohibition notice that restricts the use of all or part of the premises until improvements are made. Further information and guidance on the Order and fire safety legislation is available from the Communities and Local Government website <a href="https://www.communities.gov.uk/fire">www.communities.gov.uk/fire</a>

#### **Objections/Review Hearings**

- 2.30 Responsible authorities and or interested parties may make representations to the Licensing Authority on any application for grant, variation or for the review of a Premises Licence. The Licensing Authority expects that where possible such representations will be made in writing.
- 2.31 Interested parties are the bodies or individuals who are entitled to make representations to licensing authorities on applications for the grant, variation or review of premises licences. In addition, interested parties may themselves seek a review of a premises licence. This group includes:

- a person living in the vicinity of the premises in question;
- a body representing persons living in that vicinity, for example, a residents' association, or a parish or town council;
- a person involved in a business in the vicinity of the premises in question:
- a body representing persons involved in such businesses, for example, a trade association; and
- a member of the relevant licensing authority i.e. elected councillors of the licensing authority for the area in which a premises is situated.

The expression "a person involved in business" will be given its widest possible interpretation, including partnerships, and need not be confined to those engaged in trade and commerce and may extend to include the functions of charities, churches and medical practices.

- 2.32 Any of these individuals or groups may specifically request a representative to make a representation on their behalf. For example, a legal representative, a friend, a Member of Parliament, a Member of the National Assembly for Wales, or a local ward or parish councillor could all act in such a capacity.
- 2.33 Local councillors play an important role in their local communities. They can make representations in writing and at a hearing on behalf of an interested party such as a resident or local business if specifically requested to do so. They can also make representations as an interested party in their own right if they live, or are involved in a business, in the vicinity of the premises in question. Local councillors can also, as elected members of the licensing authority, make representations in their own right if they have concerns about any premises, regardless of whether they live or run a business in the vicinity of those premises. For example, councillors may apply for a review of a licence if problems at specific premises which justify intervention are brought to their attention.

#### DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL DETAILS OF INTERESTED PARTIES

- 2.34 Where a notice of a hearing is given to an applicant, the licensing authority is required under the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) Regulations 2005 to provide to the applicant with the notice and copies of the relevant representations that have been made.
- 2.35 In some exceptional and isolated circumstances interested parties may be reluctant to make representations because of fears of intimidation or violence if their personal details, such as name and address, are divulged to the applicant.
- 2.36 Where the licensing authority considers that the interested party has a genuine and well founded fear of intimidation and may be deterred

- from making a representation because of this, the licensing authority will consider alternative approaches.
- 2.37 The licensing authority may also decide to withhold some or all of the interested party's personal details from the applicant, giving only enough details (such as street name or general location within a street) which would allow an applicant to be satisfied that the interested party is within the vicinity of the premises. However, withholding such detail will only be considered where the circumstances justify such action and the licensing authority is satisfied that the complaints are not frivolous or vexatious.
- 2.38 The Licensing Authority can only review a licence where it is alleged that the Licensing Objectives are not being kept. The Licensing Authority will hold a review hearing to consider the merits of an application or licence where the representation is considered relevant. In order to be relevant it must relate to the likely effect of the grant of the licence on the promotion of at least one of the Licensing Objectives. Review hearings will be heard by a panel of elected members. Applicants and objectors will be informed of the hearing protocol and invited to attend such hearings to present their arguments.
- 2.40 The Licensing Authority will, however, make every effort to consult with the applicant and objector to resolve any issues as appropriate.
- 2.41 An aggrieved interested party whose representation is not regarded as relevant may challenge the Licensing Authority by way of a judicial review.
- 2.42 Following a review hearing the Licensing Authority may:
  - modify the conditions of the licence
  - exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence
  - remove the designated premises supervisor
  - suspend the licence for a period (not exceeding three months)
  - revoke the licence
  - take no action

#### Offences

- 2.43 The Act sets out a number of offences, proceedings for which may be instigated by:
  - The Licensing Authority
  - The Director of Public Prosecutions
  - In the case of an offence under section 146, 147 or 147A (sale of alcohol to children and persistently selling alcohol to children) by a

- local Weights and Measures Authority (within the meaning of section 69 of the Weights and Measures Act 1985 (c.72)).
- 2.44 Any action instigated by the Licensing Authority will be undertaken having regard to the Enforcement Policy of the council.

#### Appeals

- 2.45 Within the Licensing Act 2003 there is provision for appeals for aggrieved parties in connection with decisions made by the Licensing Authority. Other than in the case of personal licences, an appeal has to be made to the Magistrates Court.
- 2.46 The Licensing Authority will provide all parties concerned with any licensing decision, with the reason for that decision(s) and details of the rights of appeal under the Act. Any reasons given will address the extent to which the decision was made with regard to the Licensing Authority's statement of licensing policy, statutory guidance, regulations and the Act itself.

#### **Equal Opportunities & Race Equality**

- 2.47 Subject to the general requirements of the Act, the Licensing Authority will promote equality of opportunity. In such respects, nothing within this Statement of Licensing Policy shall undermine the right of any individual to apply for any of the licences and/or authorisations provided for under the terms of the Act.
- 2.48 No applicant and/or licence holder shall receive less or more favourable treatment on the grounds of sex, sexual orientation, age, disability, marital status, colour, religion, race or ethnic origin. No applicant and/or licence holder shall be disadvantaged by conditions or requirements which are not relevant to their application and/or their licence, the promotion of the four Licensing Objectives and this Statement of Licensing Policy.

#### **Disability Discrimination & Human Rights**

- 2.49 It is the policy of the Licensing Authority that facilities for people and performers with disabilities should be provided at places for entertainment under the duties imposed by the Disability Discrimination Act 1995.
- 2.50 The Licensing Authority will have particular regard to the following relevant provisions of the European Convention on Human Rights:
  - Article 6 that in the determination of civil rights and obligations everyone is entitled to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and impartial tribunal established by law.

- Article 8 that everyone has the right to respect for his home and private life.
- Article 1 of the First Protocol that every person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his or her possessions.
- 2.51 Subject to the general requirements of the Act, nothing within this Statement of Licensing Policy shall undermine the right of any person to make representation(s) on an application, or seek a review of an existing licence or certificate, where provision has been made for them to do so under the Act.

#### **Data Protection**

- 2.52 The Licensing Authority may use the information submitted on any application form for any licence(s) and/or permission(s) provided under the terms of the Act for the purpose of carrying out its statutory function(s) in its capacity as the relevant Licensing Authority.
- 2.53 The Licensing Authority may disclose all such information to its agents or service providers. The Licensing Authority may also share this information with other Council Services (departments).
- 2.54 All applicants have the right to ask for a copy of the information that the Licensing Authority holds about them (for which we may charge a fee) and to correct any inaccuracies held.
- 2.55 By making application to the Licensing Authority for any licence and/or permission under the terms of the Act all applicants consent to our processing sensitive personal data about them where this is necessary.
- 2.56 The Act requires the Licensing Authority to keep a register of:
  - A record of each Premises Licence, Club Premises Certificate, and Personal Licence issued by it
  - A record of each temporary event Notice received by it
  - The matters mentioned in Schedule 3 for example :
    - i) any application made to the licensing authority under section 17 (grant of premises licence)
  - ii) any notice given to it under section 28 (surrender of premises licence)

- iii) any application made to it under section 34 (variation of premises licence)
- iv) any application made to it under section 37 (variation of licence to specify individual as premises supervisor)
- Such other information as may be prescribed.

Any person is permitted to obtain a copy of this information from the Licensing Authority and information included in this register may be published on the Council's website <u>Licensing page</u> www.gosport.gov.uk.

#### **Delegation of Functions**

2.57 In the interests of speed and efficiency the Licensing Authority will, where possible, delegate licensing decisions and functions to officers. However, if the matter to be decided is controversial in any way or the determination of the matter under delegated powers is precluded by law then it will be decided by the Licensing Board or a Sub-Committee of that Board.

**See Appendix A for Schedule of Delegation** 

## PART 3: TYPES OF LICENCES, CERTIFICATES AND NOTICES

#### **Personal Licences**

- 3.1 A personal licence will be granted to any applicant, aged 18 or over, who possesses a relevant qualification or is a person of a prescribed description as determined by the DCMS. A licence will not be granted to any applicant who has forfeited a personal licence in the five year period ending with the date of the application.
- 3.2 Where an applicant has an unspent conviction for a relevant or foreign offence, the police can object to the application.

- 3.3 Applicants who meet the statutory criteria in terms of age, qualifications and non-forfeiture, as mentioned above, will be granted a licence (subject to any police objections being received). Applications that do not meet those criteria will be rejected.
- 3.4 Where the police have issued an objection notice, refusal of the application should be the normal course unless there are, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority, exceptional and compelling circumstances that justify granting the application. Such circumstances could be that the applicant is able to demonstrate that the offence in question took place so long ago and that there is no longer any likelihood of re-offending. The Licensing Authority may consider that the individual circumstance of the case is so exceptional and compelling that any risk to the community has diminished that it is right to grant the application.
- 3.5 There will be no need for a hearing if the applicant, Licensing Authority and Chief Officer of Police agree that a hearing is not necessary.
- 3.6 The Licensing Authority requires every application for a personal licence to be accompanied with a criminal conviction certificate or a criminal record certificate or the results of a subject access search of the police national computer by the National Identification Service to the Licensing Authority. This will assist the Licensing Authority in determining whether the applicant has any relevant unspent convictions.
- 3.7 Applicants who originate from, or who have lived under, foreign jurisdiction will be required to provide a document from that jurisdiction, equivalent to the criminal records disclosure form, or swear a statutory declaration confirming that they have not been convicted outside of England and Wales of a relevant offence or equivalent offence. Applicants should be warned that the making of a false declaration for the purpose of obtaining a licence is a criminal offence for which they will be prosecuted.

#### **Temporary Event Notices (TEN)**

3.8 The Temporary Events procedure involves notification of an event to the Licensing Authority and the police, subject to fulfilling certain conditions prescribed in the legislation and regulations. In general only the police may intervene to prevent such an event taking place or to agree a modification of the arrangements for such an event. The most important aspect of the procedure of permitted temporary activities is

that no authorisations as such are required for these events from the Licensing Authority. The Licensing Authority encourages persons organising such events to have due regard for the concerns of local residents and to seek advice from the Local Authority regarding other legislative requirements that event organisers should consider.

- 3.9 When a temporary event is proposed, notice of the event, along with the relevant fee, must be served on the Licensing Authority at least 10 working days before the event (although the Licensing Authority hopes that in most cases the premises user will serve notice on the Licensing Authority as far as possible ahead of the proposed event).
- 3.10 Section 193 of the Act defines "working day" as any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, Christmas Day, Good Friday, or a day which is a bank holiday under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971 in England and Wales. "Ten working days notice" means ten working days exclusive of the day on which the event is to start, and exclusive of the day on which the notice is given.
- 3.11 On receipt of a Temporary Event Notice the Licensing Authority will issue an acknowledgement notice in accordance with the requirements of the Act, unless a counter notice has been served under Section 107 of the Act. Counter notices under this Section relate to circumstances where the limits permitted under the Act for the service of temporary events notices are exceeded. The premises user must also serve a copy of the notice on the local Chief Officer of Police no later than 10 days before the day on which the event specified in the temporary event notice begins.
- 3.12 If the Chief Officer of Police is satisfied that allowing the premises to be used in accordance with the notice will undermine the crime prevention objective he/she must serve an objection notice, stating his/her reasons, on both the Licensing Authority and the premises user within 48 hours of receiving the temporary event notice.
- 3.13 If the Licensing Authority receives an objection notice it will hold a hearing to consider the objections (unless the Licensing Authority, police and premises user agree that a hearing is unnecessary) and will give the premises user a counter notice under Section 105 of the Act if it considers it necessary for the promotion of the crime prevention objective to do so.
- 3.14 The Fire and Rescue Service is not a statutory consultee in the TEN process. However, when a TEN is received by the Licensing Authority it may, where considered necessary, for information purposes only, notify the Fire and Rescue Service at the earliest possible opportunity.

#### **Club Premises Certificates**

- 3.15 The Licensing Authority acknowledges that private premises to which public access is restricted and where alcohol is supplied, other than for profit, give rise to different issues for licensing law than those presented by commercial enterprises selling direct to the public. The Licensing Authority encourages clubs to take advantage of the benefits offered to such premises such as the absence of a requirement for a Personal Licence Holder (PLH) or Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS).
- 3.16 The Licensing Authority will consider applications for premises licences if the Club decides that it wishes to offer its facilities commercially for use by the general public but the Applicant should remember that the appropriate planning consent should be sought prior to the application for a premises licence being submitted.
- 3.17 When a premise has the benefit of a Club Premises Certificate, an application may be made to allow those running the premises to supply alcohol for consumption off the premises. Such supply will only be allowed during the hours that the premises are open for supply of alcohol to its members on the premises. Any such permission that is granted will be subject to conditions that any alcohol supplied will be in a sealed container and will only be supplied to members.

#### **Premises Licences**

- 3.18 A premises licence is required for any premises which are used for one or more licensable activity as defined in 2.1 above. Those who may apply for licences are defined in Section 16 of the Act.
- 3.19 The requirements in relation to applications for premises licences are set out in Section 17 of the Act and the Licensing Authority will not be able to consider applications which do not comply with those requirements. This Section requires that applications must be accompanied by:
  - a) an operating schedule that demonstrates that the licensed premises can comply with the Licensing Authority's licensing policy and promotes the 4 Licensing Objectives. The operating schedule must set out the following details:
    - the relevant licensable activities to be conducted on the premises
    - the times during which it is proposed that the relevant licensable activities are to take place, including the times during each day of the week, during particular holiday periods and during

- particular seasons if it is likely that the times would be different during different parts of the year
- any other times when the premises will be open to the public
- where the licence activities include the supply of alcohol, the name and address of the individual to be specified as the Designated Premises Supervisor
- where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, whether the alcohol will be supplied for consumption on or off the premises or both
- the steps which the applicant proposes to take to promote the licensing objectives
- b) a plan of the premises to which the application relates in the prescribed form
- c) an appropriate consent form completed by the relevant Designated Premises Supervisor
- d) the appropriate fee.
- 3.20 Applicants for variations to an existing licence or club registration certificate need only include in their operating schedule those additional steps necessary to promote the Licensing Objectives in respect of the variation applied for.
- 3.21 The Licensing Authority requires that applicants shall provide evidence that they have complied with all relevant statutory procedures. The Licensing Authority requires applicants to submit, with their application, certificates of service and certificates of display of notice on the Licensing Authority's standard forms. The Licensing Authority also requires applicants to submit a copy of the newspaper in which notices of application have been published within 5 working days of the date of publication.

**Note:** Fee levels and prescribed forms may be viewed on the websites of the <u>DCMS</u> www.culture.gov.uk/ and the Council's <u>Fees and Charges Book</u> www.gosport.gov.uk/ Or can be obtained from the Licensing Authority's licensing team.

# PART 4: LICENSING POLICIES & MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION BY APPLICANTS

#### Section A: Prevention of Crime and Disorder

#### Matters to be considered by Applicants.

- 4.1 Applicants should have regard to the following matters when writing their operating schedules and are advised to consult Hampshire Police before submitting their application. If the Licensing Authority receives a representation, additional conditions may be imposed at the hearing that determines the application.
- 4.2 It should be noted in particular that it is unlawful under the 2003 Act:
  - To sell or supply alcohol to a person who is drunk
  - To knowingly allow disorderly conduct on licensed premises
  - For the holder of a premises licence or a Designated Premises Supervisor to knowingly keep or to allow to be kept on licensed premises any goods that have been imported without payment of duty or which have otherwise been unlawfully imported
  - To allow the presence of children under 16 who are not accompanied by an adult between midnight and 05:00 hours at any premises licensed for the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises and at any time in premises used exclusively or primarily for the sale and consumption of alcohol
  - To supply alcohol to those under 18.

Conditions enforcing these arrangements are therefore unnecessary.

- 4.3 When addressing crime and disorder the applicants should initially identify any particular issues (having regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities) which are likely to adversely affect the promotion of the crime and disorder objective. Such steps as are required to deal with these identified issues should be included within the applicant's operating schedule. The measures laid down in DCMS Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act Appendix D Pool of Conditions Part 1. Conditions relating to the Prevention of Crime and Disorder should be considered as practices, which if necessary, may promote the prevention of crime and disorder.
- 4.4 Any adoption of the measures outlined in the DCMS Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act Appendix D Pool of Conditions Part 1. Conditions relating to the Prevention of Crime and Disorder will depend on a range of factors including:
  - The nature and style of the venue
  - The activities being conducted there

- The location of the premises
- The anticipated clientele of the business involved.

It should also be borne in mind that club premises operate under their own codes of discipline to ensure the good order and behaviour of members.

- 4.5 Whether it is necessary to impose conditions on the licence or certificate will also depend on local knowledge of the premises.
- 4.6 Under no circumstances should the following measures be regarded as standard conditions to be automatically imposed in all cases. They are designed to provide a range of conditions drawn from experience relating to differing situations and to offer guidance.
- 4.7 Any individual preparing an operating schedule is at liberty to volunteer any measure, as a step he or she intends to take to promote the Licensing Objectives. When incorporated into the licence or certificate as a condition, they become enforceable under the law and a breach of such a condition could give rise to prosecution.

#### Summary

- 4.8 The Licensing Authority will expect operating schedules for:
  - a) Premises open between 23:00 and 08:00
  - b) Other premises where appropriate to have considered measures such as -
    - Use of CCTV both within and outside the premises in accordance with the code of practice issued by the Information Commissioner from time to time, e.g. warning signs
    - Metal detection and search facilities
    - Procedures for risk assessing promotions and events such as "happy hours" including the potential to cause crime and disorder and plans for minimising such risks
    - Measures to prevent the use or supply of illegal drugs
    - Employment of door supervisors licensed by the Security Industry Authority and other appropriately trained staff
    - Participation in an appropriate Watch Scheme or other body designed to ensure effective liaison with the local community
    - Prevention of fire setting
    - Proof of Age schemes
    - Controls on bottles, glasses and containers
    - Capacity limits
    - Notices and signage, including a prominent sign giving the name of the personal licence holder in charge of the premises.
    - No admissions after a specified time
    - A personal licence holder to be on duty at the premises during opening hours

Consideration of design, character and layout

Further guidance is included in the *DCMS Guidance issued under Section* 182 of the Act - Appendix D Pool of Conditions - Part 1. Conditions relating to the Prevention of Crime and Disorder.

#### Reason

4.9.1 Prevention of crime and disorder is one of the four licensing objectives of the Licensing Act 2003. It is important that applicants identify measures taken to address this objective in their operating schedule.

#### **Drugs/Alcohol Abuse**

#### **Drugs and Drunkenness on Premises.**

- 4.10 The Licensing Authority will expect licensees to have adequate management practices in place as well as suitable training for staff to ensure that sales are not made to persons under the age of 18, or to persons who may supply to persons under that age. These practices also need to be in place to ensure that sales are not made to persons who are drunk, or to whom it is believed the sale of alcohol may result in crime and disorder.
- 4.11 The Government has published its updated Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy document "Safe. Sensible. Social. The next steps in the National Alcohol Strategy" in June 2007. It complements local authorities' licensing strategies and may help to promote one or more of the Licensing Objectives.
- 4.12 The Licensing Authority will also expect licensees to be aware of the potential for the misuse of drugs on their premises. Where such a potential exists they should:
  - take all reasonable steps to prevent the entry of drugs into licensed premises
  - take appropriate steps to prevent drugs being supplied within the premises
  - take practical measures to prevent tragedies as a result of drug misuse
- 4.13 In particular, the Licensing Authority will expect licensees of venues likely to be affected by alcohol or drug abuse to be familiar with the contents of Chapter 4 (drug awareness) of the BIIAB Level 2 National Certificate for Entertainment Licensees and to be following the recommendations of that handbook www.bii.org
- 4.14 The Licensing Authority will also expect the relevant licensees to be following the recommendations of the book "Safer Clubbing" issued by the Home Office (ISBN 1840827807).

- 4.15 The Portman Group Code of Practice on the Naming, Packaging and Promotion of Alcoholic Drinks is recommended by the Licensing Authority to all relevant licensees <a href="https://www.portmangroup.org.uk/">www.portmangroup.org.uk/</a>
- 4.16 The Drinkaware Trust is an independent UK-wide, public-facing body with the objective of positively changing public behavior and the national drinking culture to help reduce alcohol misuse and minimise alcohol-related harm. The Trust is recommended to all relevant licensees. Further information can be found on the Trust's website <a href="https://www.drinkaware.co.uk/">www.drinkaware.co.uk/</a>
- 4.17 Drug and alcohol abuse are problems associated with licensable premises. Conditions are required to assist operators of such premises to meet both the crime and disorder objective and the prevention of public nuisance.

#### **Shops Stores and Supermarkets.**

- 4.18 The Licensing Authority will generally consider licensing shops, stores and supermarkets to sell alcohol for consumption off the premises at any times they are open for shopping. Shops must have adequate management practices to ensure that sales are not made to under 18 year olds and persons where there are grounds to believe that the sale will result in crime and disorder. Reference should be made to the "Responsible Retailing of Alcohol: Guidance for the Off-Trade" produced by the Association of Convenience Stores, the British Consortium and the Wine Retail Spirit Association www.brc.org.uk/default.asp
- 4.19 However, if there are good reasons for restricting those hours, for example, where police representations made in respect of shops known to be the focus of disorder and disturbance, then restriction of hours will be considered.
- 4.20 Procedures must be in place to ensure that only persons eighteen years or older sell alcohol directly to consumers of eighteen or over. Where sales persons are under eighteen they must be adequately supervised for alcohol sales. Staff training, good procedures and management, a "No ID No Sale" Policy combined with "Challenge/Think 21" Policy and some in store signage, and sensible siting of drinks can all reduce the likelihood of illegal sales.

#### Reason

4.21 The sale of alcohol from premises other than pubs or clubs throughout the day is integral to the Act. It is, however, necessary to ensure that suitable regimes are in place to prevent the sale of alcohol to persons under 18 years of age. Controls will meet the need to address the potential for crime and disorder problems that underage sales

represent. In addition, the controls required will also address the requirement under the Act to protect children from harm.

#### Section B: Public Safety

#### Matters to be considered by Applicants

- 5.1 The Act covers a wide range of premises that require licensing, including cinemas, concert halls, theatres, nightclubs, public houses, cafes/restaurants and fast food outlets/takeaways. Each of these types of premises presents a mixture of risks with many common to most premises and others unique to specific operations. It is essential that premises are constructed or adapted and operated so as to acknowledge and safeguard occupants against these risks.
- 5.2 The Licensing Authority will not impose standard conditions but will consider attaching conditions to licences and permissions to promote public safety (including fire safety) where appropriate and necessary which may be based on the DCMS Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act Appendix D Pool of Conditions Part 2. Conditions relating to Public Safety.

#### Reason

- 5.3 The safety of the public at licensed premise is paramount and is one of the four Licensing Objectives.
- 5.4 Licensed premises that provide regulated entertainment for large numbers of people create additional safety hazards that need to be controlled. Operating Schedules must demonstrate how effective fire safety management is being provided and maintained.

#### Section C: The Prevention of Public Nuisance

#### **Matters to be considered by Applicants**

6.1 It should be noted that provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Noise Act 1996 provide some protection to the general public from the effects of noise nuisance. In addition, the provisions of Part 8 of the Licensing Act 2003 enable a senior police officer to close down instantly, for up to 24 hours, licensed premises and premises carrying on temporary permitted activities that are causing nuisance resulting from noise emanating from the premises. Further provisions are available to local authorities under the Anti- Social Behaviour Act 2003 that if the noise from any licensed premises is causing a public nuisance an authorised officer has the power to issue a closure order effective up to 24 hours. Under this provision, it is for the Chief Executive of the local authority to delegate their power to Environmental Health Officers within their authority.

These matters should be considered before deciding whether or not conditions are necessary for the prevention of public nuisance as defined in the DCMS Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act - Appendix D Pool of Conditions - Part 4. Conditions relating to the Prevention of Public Nuisance.

- 6.2 Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of individuals once they are away from a licensed premises and therefore beyond the direct control of individual licensees or certificate holders. However, licensees and certificate holders should take reasonable steps to prevent the occurrence of crime and disorder and public nuisance immediately outside their premises, for example on the pavement, in a beer garden, or in a smoking shelter, where and to the extent that these matters are within their control.
- 6.3 Public nuisance is given a statutory meaning in many pieces of legislation. It is, however, not narrowly defined in the 2003 Act and retains its broad common law meaning. It is important to remember that the prevention of public nuisance could therefore include low-level nuisance, perhaps affecting a few people living locally, as well as major disturbance affecting the whole community. It may also include in appropriate circumstances the reduction of the living and working amenity and environment of interested parties (as defined in the 2003 Act) in the vicinity of licensed premises.
- 6.4 The 2003 Act requires licensing authorities (following receipt of relevant representations) and responsible authorities, through representations, to make judgements about what constitutes public nuisance and what is necessary to prevent it in terms of conditions attached to specific premises licences and club premises certificates. It is therefore important that in considering the promotion of this licensing

objective, licensing authorities and responsible authorities focus on impacts of the licensable activities at the specific premises on persons living and working (including doing business) in the vicinity that are disproportionate and unreasonable. The issues will mainly concern noise nuisance, light pollution, noxious smells and litter.

- 6.5 As with all conditions, it will be clear that conditions relating to noise nuisance may not be necessary in certain circumstances where the provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 or the Noise Act 1996 adequately protect those living in the vicinity of the premises. But as stated earlier in this Guidance, the approach of licensing authorities and responsible authorities should be one of prevention and, when their powers are engaged, the Licensing Authority will be aware of the fact that other legislation may not adequately cover concerns raised in relevant representations and additional conditions may be necessary.
- 6.6 Applicants should have regard to the following matters when writing their operating schedules and are advised to consult the Environmental Health Officers at the Council before submitting their application. Additional matters that may be considered are contained in the DCMS Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act Appendix D Pool of Conditions Part 4. Conditions relating to the Prevention of Public Nuisance. If the Licensing Authority receives a representation at the hearing that determines the application, additional conditions may be imposed.
- 6.7 Licensed premises, especially those operating late at night and in the early hours of the morning, can cause a range of nuisances impacting on people living, working or sleeping in the vicinity of the premises.
- 6.8 When addressing public nuisance the applicant should initially identify any particular issues (having regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities) which are likely to adversely affect the promotion of the objective to prevent public nuisance. Such steps as are required to deal with these identified issues should be included within the applicant's operating schedule.

#### **Noise from Patrons**

- 6.9 The Licensing Authority will expect popular venues (including takeaways), that attract queues, to formulate a system to avoid disturbance to residents.
- 6.10 However, excessive noise and/or disorder require more rigorous action. It is important that queues formed later in the evening are supervised to keep noise to a minimum. Door supervisors will generally carry out this role, but they must be given clear instructions as to their

- duties and responsibilities and where necessary they should be adequately supervised.
- 6.11 In terms of patrons leaving the premises, particularly late at night (after 23:00 hours) or early in the morning, the Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to have included in the operating schedule such practical steps as necessary to avoid noise nuisance to local premises.
- 6.12 It is self evident that the risk of disturbance to local residents is greater when licensable activities continue late at night and into the early hours of the morning.
- 6.13 The policy of the Licensing Authority is to strike a fair balance between the benefits to a community of a licensed venue and the risk of disturbance to local residents. Consequently, in sensitive areas the Licensing Authority may restrict the hours of operation as an alternative to extensive sound insulation and noise control measures.

#### **Street Furniture**

- 6.14 The beer gardens and smoking shelters of public houses are an asset to the premises. Similarly, the provision of tables and chairs outside the premises, either on the highway or on private land, can enhance the attractiveness of the venue. It can have the benefit of encouraging a continental style café culture. However, late at night these same tables and chairs and in some cases smoking shelters can contribute to noise problems and in the case of tables and chairs can be used as weapons.
- 6.15 The positioning of tables and chairs on the public highway requires the consent of the Highway Authority. On private land consent may not be required, but the operating schedule must adequately address public nuisance. However, if not volunteered by the applicant in their operating schedule and following relevant representations, conditions may be applied to address the public nuisance.

#### Reason

6.16 A policy is required to balance between providing refreshment and facilities in the open air and avoiding nuisance to others. The need to control street furniture also impacts on the public safety and the crime and disorder requirements as the abuse of street furniture must be considered.

#### **Exterior Lighting**

6.17 Exterior lighting and security lighting must be positioned to avoid disturbing neighbouring residential property.

#### Reason

6.18 Prevent the potential for nuisance due to bright lights shining into neighbouring properties.

### Section D: Protection of Children

### Matters to be considered by Applicants

- 7.1 Applicants should have regard to the following matters when writing their operating schedules and are advised to consult the Hampshire County Council, Area Child Protection Team. If the Licensing Authority receives a representation at the hearing, that determines the application, additional conditions may be imposed.
- 7.2 When addressing the protection of children, the applicant should initially identify any particular issues (having regard to their particular type of premises and/or activities) which are likely to cause concern in relation to children. Such steps as are required to deal with these identified concerns should be included within the applicant's operating schedule.
- 7.3 It should be noted that it is unlawful under the Licensing Act 2003 to permit children under the age of 16 unaccompanied by an individual aged 18 or over to be present on premises:
  - a) exclusively or primarily used for supply of alcohol for consumption on those premises under the authorisation of a premises licence, club premises certificate or a temporary event notice when open for the purposes of being used for the supply of alcohol for consumption there; or
  - b) between midnight and 05:00 hours at all premises supplying alcohol for consumption on those premises under the authorisation of any premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary event notice.

Conditions duplicating these provisions are therefore unnecessary. However, this does not mean that children should automatically be admitted to such premises.

### **Adult Entertainment**

7.4 Where the activities proposed under the licence include those of a sexrelated nature (e.g. topless waitresses, striptease, table dancing, etc.) the Licensing Authority would take into account the increased risk to the Licensing Objectives.

- **Note:** For the sake of convenience the term "striptease" in this part of the policy should be taken to refer to any entertainment or service involving nudity or the sexual stimulation of patrons.
- 7.5 Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 (PCA) reclassifies certain entertainment activities and the venues for such activities sex establishments. The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (LGMPA) gives local authorities in England and Wales the power to regulate such venues as sex establishments under Schedule 3 of LGMPA.
- 7.6 These new measures took effect in 6<sup>th</sup> April 2010 in England and where they are adopted they will give local people a greater say over where and how many lap dancing clubs can open and operate in their neighbourhoods.
- 7.7 Schedule 7 to the PCA amends the Licensing Act 2003 (LA03) to ensure that premises for which a sex establishment licence is required or held (or for which a requirement has been waived under paragraph 7 of Schedule 3 to the LGMPA) do not also require a premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary event notice in order to provide the relevant entertainment. (This is because such entertainment is expressly excluded from the definition of regulated entertainment found in the LA03). However if the premises also carry on other licensable activities (e.g. the sale of alcohol or the provision of regulated entertainment that is not relevant entertainment) they will nevertheless continue to require a premises licence, club premises certificate or temporary event notice under the LA03 for those activities subject to any exclusion contained in that Act.
- 7.8 Premises that offer on an irregular basis entertainment of a sexual nature may not require a sex establishment licence in which case the provisions of the premises licence especially with reference to the protection of children will apply.

  For further information see the Home Office Sexual Entertainment Venues Guidance for England and Wales available from the Home Office website: <a href="Home Office Crime Reduction National Archives">Home Office Crime Reduction National Archives</a> http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100413151441/http://www.crimereduction.homeoffice.gov.uk/cpindex.htm
- 7.5 Where such entertainment is provided the premises licence operating schedule must include controls designed to ensure that children are not admitted to the activity and cannot witness the activity. The area proposed for striptease shall:
  - (a) be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the street
  - (b) be in a designated area of the premises with segregation from the audience and

- (c) be in a position where the performers will have direct access to the dressing room without passing through or in close proximity to the audience.
- 7.6 Whilst striptease entertainment is taking place no person under the age of 18 shall be on the licensed premises and a clear notice shall be displayed at each entrance to the premises in a prominent position, so that it can be easily read by persons entering the premises, in the following terms:

#### "NO PERSON UNDER 18 WILL BE ADMITTED"

- 7.7 Where a part of the premises can be effectively screened from persons under the age of 18 the requirements of paragraph 7.5 can be applied to that part of the building.
- 7.8 To prevent the possibility of children seeing unsuitable advertisements, unless the advert has been previously agreed by the Licensing Authority, the policy of the Licensing Authority will be to attach a condition to the effect that "Except with the consent of the Licensing Authority there shall be no external advertising of the striptease entertainment either at the premises or in its immediate vicinity."

#### Reason

7.9 These policies are designed to further the Licensing Objective of protecting children by preventing them being exposed to unsuitable material or acts. They are also designed to further the crime prevention and prevention of nuisance objectives by recognising the increased risk of nuisance or illegal activities such as performers offering "extras" to customers or the plying for trade by prostitutes.

### Additional Controls

- 7.10 The Licensing Authority will take strong measures to protect children from harm. Examples of premises where the introduction of additional controls are likely to be necessary are:
  - Where there have been convictions for serving alcohol to a minor or with a reputation for under-age drinking
  - With a known association with drug taking or dealing
  - Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises
  - Where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is provided
- 7.11 In such circumstances while it may sometimes be necessary to impose a complete prohibition this would be only rarely imposed. The Licensing Authority would normally require:

- Limitations on the hours when children may be present
- Age limitations below 18
- Limitations or exclusions when certain activities are taking place
- Requirements for accompanying adults
- Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any licensable activities are taking place
- 7.12 Where there is provision of entertainment specifically for children (e.g. a children's disco) the Licensing Authority will require the presence of sufficient adults to control the access and egress of the children and ensure their safety.

#### Reason

- 7.13.1 These policies are designed to allow flexibility for the licensee, to ensure that where appropriate licensed premises are "user friendly" for children but to ensure they are adequately protected.
- 7.13.2 For further information see the DCMS Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act Appendix D Pool of Conditions Part 5. Conditions relating to the Protection of Children.

### **Children & Cinemas**

- 7.14 The Licensing Authority expects licensees to include in their operating schedule arrangements for restricting children from viewing age restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification.
- 7.15 Where the exhibition of films is permitted the Licensing Authority will expect the age restrictions of the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) in respect of the films to be exhibited to be complied with. Only in exceptional cases will variations of this general rule be granted by the Licensing Authority and then only with appropriate safeguards.
- 7.16 In relation to specialist Film Festivals where it is desired to show films not classified by the BBFC the Licensing Authority will, provided adequate notice has been given, classify the films concerned. To achieve consistency and the protection of children the Licensing Authority will use the guidelines published by the BBFC <a href="http://www.bbfc.co.uk/">http://www.bbfc.co.uk/</a>

### Reason

7.17 To prevent children from viewing unsuitable films.

### **Children and Regulated Entertainment**

- 7.18 It is expected that adult staff will be at places of public entertainment to control the access and egress of children and to protect them from harm. This requirement also applies to children present at an event as performers, in which case, for every ten children there must be one supervising adult present at all times.
- 7.19 For additional matters see the DCMS Guidance issued under Section 182 of the Act Appendix D Pool of Conditions Part 3. Conditions relating to Theatres, Cinemas, Concert Halls and Similar Places (Promotion of Public Safety).

# Appendix A

# SCHEDULE OF DELEGATIONS

Matter to be dealt with	Licensing Sub- Committee	Officers
Application for personal licence	If a police objection	If no objection made
Application for personal licence with unspent convictions	All cases	
Application for premises licence/club premises certificate	If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application for provisional statement	If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application to vary premises licence/club premises certificate	If a relevant representation made	If no relevant representation made
Application for a Minor Variation to Premises Licence /club premises certificate.		All cases
Application to vary to disapply mandatory Section 19 conditions for sales of alcohol at community premises	If a Police objection	All other cases
Application to vary designated premises supervisor	If a Police objection	All other cases

Request to be removed as designated premises supervisor		All cases
Application for transfer of premises licence	If a Police objection	All other cases
Applications for interim Authorities	If a Police objection	All other cases
Application to review premises licence / club premises certificate	All cases	
Decision on whether a complaint is irrelevant frivolous vexatious etc		All cases
Decision to object when local authority is a consultee and not the relevant authority considering the application	All cases	
Determination of a Police objection to a temporary event notice	All cases	
In cases where the Magistrates Court has determined the licence on Appeal		All cases

The Licensing Committee shall receive regular reports on decisions made by officers so that they maintain an over view of the general situation.

### **APPENDIX B**

### **Responsible Authorities**

The Responsible Authorities that must be fully notified of applications and that are entitled to make representations to the Licensing Authority in relation to the application for the grant, variation or review of a premises licence.

For all premises these include:

### **Police**

Chief Officer of Police, Central OCU Headquarters, Fareham Police Station, Quay Street, Fareham, PO16 0NA. Tel: 08450454545

### Fire

Chief Fire Officer,
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service,
Service Delivery (Community Safety Delivery)
Protection Department,
Southsea Fire Station,
Somers Road,
Southsea,
Hampshire PO5 4UL
Tel: 023 9285 5180

### Local Agency for Health & Safety at Work etc. Act 1974

Principal Environmental Health Officer (Commercial) Environmental Services, Town Hall, High Street, Gosport, Hampshire, PO12 1EB Tel: 0239254 5505/6/7

### Local Agency for Environmental Health

Principal Environmental Health Officer (Residential) Environmental Services, Town Hall, High Street, Gosport, Hampshire, PO12 1EB Tel: 0239254 5505/6/7

# **Local Planning Authority**

Head of Development Control Town Hall, High Street, Gosport, Hampshire, PO12 1EB

Tel: 0239254 5483

### **Local Weights and Measures Authority**

Head of Safety and Standards, Hampshire County Council, Trading Standards Service, Montague House, Monarch Way, Winchester Hampshire, SO22 5PW

Tel: 01962 833620

### Matters Relating to the Protection of Children

The Safeguarding Unit Clarendon House Monarch Way Winchester SO22 5PW

### Matters Relating to Vessels (ONLY FOR VESSELS - THEN INCLUDE)

The Surveyor in Charge,
The Maritime and Coastguard Agency
Spring Place,
105 Commercial Road,
Southampton,
Hampshire,
SO15 1EG

Tel: 02380 329100

### **APPENDIX C**



### **CERTIFICATE OF DISPLAY OF NOTICE**

•							
of,							
Notice red under, and displayed	ertify that on quired to be disposed in accordance at	olayed in a e with the	ccordance Licensing	e with the Act 200	regula 3 was p	tions noromine	nade ently s <i>tat</i> e
	displayed],						the
to which to public on	the application in the site of the site of the splaced on dispersion in the splaced on the splaced on dispersion in the splaced on the	elates whe	ere it can o	convenie	ntly be	read by	/ the
from the	•	<b>7</b> -	) ,				
to the	day o	f,	:	20 .			
Dated the	day	of,		20	,		
Signature							

**APPENDIX D** 



# **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I
of,
hereby certify that on the day of , 20 , I served each of the persons named in the schedule hereto with the notice, of which the attached copy is a true copy by:
* Delivering the said notice to him/her personally
* By sending the said notice by post (or recorded delivery service) to him/her on a prepaid (registered) letter posted by me at the Post Office situated at
at o'clock in the noon and addressed to such persons at the addresses set out in the said schedule under their names being their respective last known (or usual) place of abode (or business)
Dated the day of , 20 ,
Signed

SCHEDULE OF PERSONS NOTIFIED

Delete as appropriate

#### APPENDIX B

Details of the consultation process for the review of the Statement of Licensing Policy.

# CONSULTATION PROCESS UNDERTAKEN IN THE FORMULATION OF THE GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL REVISED STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY 2011 – 2014

- 1. Gosport Borough Council's Licensing Forum has been established with representative members from the Borough's commercial licensing trade, local social clubs in the Borough, the taxi trade, local Councillors and Council officers from Environmental Health, Community Safety, Legal and Democratic Services.
- 2. The Licensing Forum met on 31<sup>st</sup> August 2010. The Forum deliberated on how effective the current Statement of Licensing Policy has been in fulfilling the purpose of presenting to the public how the Licensing Authority exercises its licensing functions under the Licensing Act 2003.
- 3. The consensus of opinion of the Licensing Forum was that the current Statement of Licensing Policy adequately fulfilled the purpose it was produced for. However, due to the evolutionary changes in the legislation and the revision of the Secretary of State's Guidance under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, the Statement of Licensing Policy needed to be updated to reflect those changes. The Licensing Forum concluded that no wider changes were necessary.
- 4. For the purpose of determining the licensing policy for a three year period the Licensing Act 2003 names two statutory consultees as the Chief Officer of Police and the Fire Authority. Both have been consulted and their recommendations have been incorporated into the draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy.
- 5. The draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy has been published on the Gosport Borough Council website for a three month public consultation period ending on 5<sup>th</sup> October 2010.
- 6. Copies of the draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy has been placed in the public libraries across the borough. The covering notice explains how comments can be sent to the Borough Solicitor to be received by 5<sup>th</sup> October 2010.

7. A copy of the draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy has been sent to Blake Lapthorn Solicitors acting for a national supermarket group that trades in the borough of Gosport.

### A MEETING OF THE POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD WAS HELD ON 10 NOVEMBER 2010

The Mayor (Councillor Allen) (ex-officio); Councillors Beavis (P), Burgess (P), Carter, C R (P), Chegwyn (P), Mrs Forder (P), Hook (Chairman) (P), Lane (P), Langdon (P), Philpott (P) and Wright (P).

### **PART II**

# 54. GOSPORT PARK PAVILION. PROPOSED LEASE

Consideration was given to a cross reference from the Community and Environment Board which requested that approval be reaffirmed to enter into a 3 year lease with Gosport and Fareham Rugby Club on the terms agreed. This was required due to the time lapse of 4 years since Board approval.

### **RESOLVED: That:**

- a) the lease proposed by the Chief Executive's report to the Community and Environment Board on 1 November 2010 be authorised; and
- b) the Borough Solicitor enter into such legal documentation as is necessary to effect the decision.

# 55. NORTH SOLENT SHORELINE MANAGEMENT PLAN - ADOPTION OF PLAN

Consideration was given to a cross reference from the Community and Environment Board on the above:

### RESOLVED: That:

- a) the final North Solent Shoreline Management Plan, its recommended policies and its Action Plan be approved and the recommended policies be adopted;
- b) the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager make representation to the Environment Agency to request that the compensatory habitat requirements identified in the Appropriate Assessment be secured and delivered through the Regional Habitat Creation Programme;
- c) the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager work with the Environment Agency to identify and progress Habitat Creation schemes within their area that contribute to the Regional Habitat Creation Programme; and
- d) the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager work with relevant authorities and organisations to contribute to the delivery of the Action Plan identified in

the SMP subject to securing appropriate funds where appropriate. The meeting ended at 6.07 pm

# A MEETING OF THE COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT BOARD WAS HELD ON 1 NOVEMBER 2010

The Mayor (Councillor Allen) (ex-officio); Chairman of the Policy and Organisation Board (Councillor Hook) (P), Councillors Mrs Bailey (P), Burgess (Chairman), Edgar (P), Mrs Forder (P), Henshaw, Mrs Hook (P), Kimber (P), Murphy (P), Ronayne (P) and Mrs Searle (P).

It was reported that, in accordance with Standing Orders, notice had been received that Councillor Hook would replace Councillor Burgess for this meeting. The meeting was chaired by the Vice-Chairman, Councillor Kimber.

#### **PART II**

# 32. NORTH SOLENT SHORELINE MANAGEMENT PLAN – ADOPTION OF FINAL PLAN

Consideration was given to a report of the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager informing Members of the recommended final policies identified in the North Solent Shoreline Management Plan and to recommending approval by the Policy and Organisation Board to adopt the proposed policies.

Bret Davis, a Coastal Partnership officer, was introduced to the Board, to answer any technical questions on the plan.

Members welcomed the amended plan and praised the work of the Coastal Partnership in addressing the previous concerns of Members.

### **RESOLVED: That:**

- a) the final North Solent Shoreline Management Plan, its recommended policies and its Action Plan be approved and that the Policy and Organisation Board be recommended to approve the adoption of the proposed policies;
- b) the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager make representation to the Environment Agency to request that the compensatory habitat requirements identified in the Appropriate Assessment be secured and delivered through the Regional Habitat Creation Programme;
- c) the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager work with the Environment Agency to identify and progress Habitat Creation schemes within their area that contribute to the Regional Habitat Creation Programme; and
- d) the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager work with relevant authorities and organisations to contribute to the delivery of the Action Plan identified in the SMP subject to securing appropriate funds where appropriate.

### 33. GOSPORT PARK PAVILION, PROPOSED LEASE

Consideration was given to a report of the Chief Executive to request the Board to reaffirm its approval to enter into a 3 year lease with Gosport and Fareham Rugby Club.

Members welcomed the fact that an agreement had been reached.

RESOLVED: That the Board recommends to the Policy and Organisation Board that it authorises the Lease proposed by this report and that the Borough Solicitor enters into such legal documentation as necessary to effect the decision.

# 34. DEVELOPMENT OF COASTAL FRAMEWORK FOR DELIVERY OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES RELATING TO COASTAL PROTECTION

Consideration was given to a report of the Leisure and Corporate Services Manager considering the need for a four year Framework Agreement to deliver professional services across the Coastal Partnership boundaries.

RESOLVED: That the Council enter into a four year framework to enable the appropriate and effective appointment of professional services across the Coastal Partnership boundaries.

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm and concluded at 6.08 pm

### A MEETING OF THE HOUSING BOARD

### WAS HELD ON 03 NOVEMBER 2010

The Mayor (Councillor Allen) (ex-officio), Chairman of the Policy and Organisation Board (Councillor Hook) (P), Councillors CK Carter, Mrs Cully (P), Dickson (P), Edwards (P), Geddes (P), Forder (P), Hylands (P), Jessop (P), Lane (P) and Philpott (P).

### **PART II**

# 24. REVIEW OF THE GOSPORT SCHEME OF ALLOCATION FOR THE GOSPORT HOUSING REGISTER

Consideration was given to a report of the Housing Services Manager which sought approval of a review of the Scheme of Allocation for the Gosport Housing Register.

It was reported that the Scheme of Allocation was last reviewed by Members at the March 2007 Housing Board. That review re-introduced a point's based system which is used to assess and prioritise housing need. Since the 2007 review there had been an overturning of previous legal precedents related to housing needs assessments. The consequence of this change in legal precedents was that the introduction of new precedents meant that the housing needs assessment no longer needed to be composite. There was no requirement to assess each element and add the elements together.

The meeting was informed of the following minor amendments to Appendix A of the Manager's report:

Section One (page 7)	Paragraph 6a (iv) (3 <sup>rd</sup> bullet point)	Delete 'd (i) or (ii)' and substitute the word 'the'. The bullet point to read: Waiting List applicants: These are defined as any cases not falling under the above.
Section Six (page 12)	Paragraph 1b (i)	Add the word 'joint'. The sub paragraph to read: The applicant, or joint applicant, is subject to immigration control
Section Six (page 13)	Paragraph 2e (2 <sup>nd</sup> sentence)	Delete '4'. The 2 <sup>nd</sup> sentence to read: The prioritisation scheme in paragraph (c) and (d) above applies
Section Seven (page 15)	Paragraph 5c (v)	Delete 'Five' and substitute 'Three'. The sub paragraph to read: The nominations process in Schedule Three applies.

Page 19 Lined Diagram – Add at the top of the Diagram
Gosport Extra Care 'Schedule Three'
Scheme

Draft Nominations & Link rows 2 and 5 of Diagram

Panel Process

### **RESOLVED: That:**

a) the Scheme in Appendix A (including the above amendments) to the Housing Services Manager's report, subject to final consultation with the council's Housing Association partners, be approved;

- b) provided no significant matters arise, the Housing Services Manager in consultation with the Housing Board Chairman, approve the final scheme;
- c) this Council continues with the current agreement that general needs Housing Association partners provide a collective contribution totalling £30,000 per year towards Choice Based Lettings activity and reviews and amends as appropriate all Housing Association partner's contributions agreements; and
- d) the Housing Services Manager be given delegated powers to negotiate with sheltered accommodation Housing Association partners in respect of a suitable annual contribution or charging practices in relation to Choice Based Lettings activity.

### 25. REVIEW OF GOSPORT'S HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY

Consideration was given to a report of the Housing Services Manager which progressed this Council's legal obligation to have a homelessness strategy; the strategy to be reviewed at least every five years. This was the fourth strategy review produced, although the first two strategies were produced before this legal obligation arose.

The last Homelessness Strategy was considered by the June 2006 Housing Board. The Homelessness Strategy considered statistical analysis, trends analysis, service gaps and strengths and anticipated needs over the next five years. The strategy encompassed homelessness, the prevention of homelessness and temporary accommodation strategies. The strategy must address:

- The prevention of homelessness;
- Sufficiency of temporary accommodation provision;
- Support for people who are, may be or were homeless.

There was a legal obligation to consult with other public bodies, other local authorities and voluntary organisations, and other persons as the Council considered appropriate.

The meeting was informed of the following minor amendment to Appendix A

of the Manager's report:

Page 4 Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.1a

Paragraphs 2.1 and Delete '24'. The paragraphs to read:

- 2.1 Section 15 of this document details the overview of statistical analysis undertaken as part of this review. There are two areas of significant interest:
- a. Gosport Council's exceptionally good record in respect of homelessness prevention (See Section 15)

### RESOLVED: That:

- a) approval be given to the Homelessness Strategy document in Appendix A (including the above amendment) and the Action Plan in Appendix B of the Housing Services Manager's report;
- b) the further consultations strategy set out in paragraph 1.3 of the Manager's report be approved; and
- c) delegated powers be given to the Housing Services Manager, in consultation with the Housing Board Chairman, to approve amendments arising from further consultation, provided these are not considered to significantly alter the document in Appendix A to the Manager's report.

### 26. ANY OTHER ITEMS

There was no other business to discuss.

The meeting ended at 6.54p.m.

### AGENDA ITEM NO. 8

<b>Board/Committee:</b>	COUNCIL
Date of Meeting:	24 NOVEMBER 2010
Title:	ROYAN TWINNING
Author:	BOROUGH SOLICITOR
Status:	FOR DECISION

### **Purpose**

To review the administrative arrangements for Twinning

### Recommendation

That Council agrees

- 1. To set up a Gosport and Royan Twinning Forum comprising representatives of the Council, sporting, cultural and other organisations involved in the above twinning, to be chaired by the Deputy Mayor.
- 2. The remit of the Forum as set out in Paragraph 2.3.
- 3. To delegate authority to the Financial Services Manager to pay accounts and invoices in respect of twinning within the budget set by the Council.
- 4. To appoint the Deputy Mayor and 4 other Councillors to the Forum

### 1 Background

- 1.1 Gosport's twinning arrangement with Royan is one of the oldest in the Country and continues to be well supported.
- 1.2 The Council is just one of a number of participants and whilst involved in the civic side of the twinning a number of sporting, cultural and other organisations are actively involved in ensuring twinning is successful.

### 2 Report

- 2.1 At present Civic and Community Events Sub-Board oversee the arrangements for Twinning with representatives of the other groups involved invited to the relevant meeting. However since the resignation of the Twinning Secretary in 2009, it is only at the Sub-Board meeting that the work of all the groups is brought together.
- 2.2 Therefore it is proposed to set up a Gosport and Royan Twinning Forum comprising 5 Councillors, one of whom will be the Deputy Mayor (so that they are involved in the twinning arrangements for their Mayoral Year) and representatives of the sporting, cultural and

other organisations involved in the twinning.

- 2.3 The Forum would meet twice yearly and it would be chaired by the Deputy Mayor. It's remit would be to
  - Promote twinning between Gosport and Royan
  - To agree arrangements for the twinning event for submission to the council
  - To implement the arrangements for the twinning event
- 2.4 To enable the Forum to implement the arrangements without waiting for the next meeting of the Sub-board it is suggested that authority be delegated to the Financial Services Manager to pay accounts and invoices within the budget set by the Council.

### 3 Risk Assessment

3.1 A formal structure for the co-ordination of the work of the various groups should help to ensure the continued success of the Gosport & Royan Twinning.

Financial Services comments:	None from this report.
	The Council's twinning contribution is
	included within the annual budget
Legal Services comments:	None
Service Improvement Plan	None
implications:	
Corporate Plan:	None
Risk Assessment:	See above
Background papers:	None
Appendices/Enclosures:	None
Report author/ Lead Officer:	Linda Edwards, Borough Solicitor

### AGENDA ITEM NO. 9

Board/Committee:	COUNCIL
Date of Meeting:	24 NOVEMBER 2010
Title:	REGULATION OF WATERMEN IN PORTSMOUTH
	HARBOUR
Author:	BOROUGH SOLICITOR
Status:	FOR DECISION

### **Purpose**

To consider the regulation of Watermen by Portsmouth City Council both for the area of the harbour within the City and within Gosport.

### **Recommendation**

That the consultation on amending the Merchant Shipping (Inland Waterways and Limited Coastal Operations) (Boatmasters' Qualifications and Hours of Work) Regulations 2006 be welcomed and that the opportunity is taken to use the Regulations to revoke the Acts of 1809 and 1812 and the Gosport and Alverstoke Urban District Council Act 1919 sections 60 to 85 and Portsmouth Corporation Act 1920 sections 80 to 87.

### 1 Background

- 1.1 The regulation of Watermen in Portsmouth Harbour has a long history. Watermen take to the water in small passenger carrying craft and provide a form of maritime bus service. Its earliest history as a locally regulated service pre-dates the battle of Waterloo. Originally enforced by a form of local magistracy, it was brought within the orbit of local authorities in 1919 when a Joint Board was established formed of Portsmouth and Gosport councillors. The Joint Board continues in existence and both Portsmouth and Gosport continue to nominate six members to serve on it.
- 1.2 The originating legislation which still governs the activities of the Joint Board was not happily worded and the Board has continued despite those shortcomings to manage the situation as it is required to do by law. Efforts to update and improve the legislation have been largely overtaken by 2006 Regulations which stem from and transpose a European Directive.
- 1.3 Many of the Watermen, who before 2007 were registered by the Joint Board, will have now become registered nationally by the Maritime Coastguard Agency and will be qualified to carry passengers in

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Merchant Shipping (Inland Waterways and Limited Coastal Operations) (Boatmasters' Qualifications and Hours of Work) Regulations 2006: S.I. 2006 /3223. These are ordinarily called 'the Boatmasters' Regulations'.

coastal areas generally. There are those however who, while capable of passing all of the necessary safety tests and having vessels properly inspected for safety, will not wish to achieve national accreditation but to remain locally licensed. Councillors who are Joint Board Members are sympathetic to that wish for local licensing but given the inconvenient constitution and the fact that the purpose of the legislation is largely overtaken by modern regulation wanted to achieve local regulation while achieving the abolition of the Joint Board.

- 1.4 That regulation is achieved in most similar situations across the country by use of the Public Health Act Amendment Act 1907, which despite its early enactment remains useful and convenient legislation. Before the new Boatmasters Regulations were brought into force in 2007, only Portsmouth and the Port of London had local legislation to regulate Watermen. There have been some misgivings about the use of the 1907 Act, which was designed to regulate recreational boating, for the purpose of carrying passengers for hire or reward. As the 2006 Boatmasters Regulations allow for a Waterman's licence to be an acceptable qualification, which is an unfortunate choice of wording as many other ports issue Boat licences not called Watermans licenses, but are not encumbered by primary legislation as in Portsmouth Harbour. These misgivings are answered by changes to the Boatmasters' Regulations that are proposed in a consultation by the Maritime Coastguard Agency that started on 6 November. The proposals specify that a Boatman's licence issued by a competent navigation authority, such as Portsmouth City Council, is an acceptable qualification for Masters of small vessels being those that take up to 12 passengers.
- 1.5 Abolition of the Joint Board will have to be achieved by a local legislation procedure known as a Harbour Revision Order unless the matter can be dealt with nationally. The Harbour Revision Order process costs the applicant about £4000 and if an inquiry is called the cost can be much higher. The proposed amendment of the Boatmasters' Regulations offers an opportunity to have the matter dealt with simply and inexpensively if the government is willing to take it and this report proposes that Portsmouth, together with Gosport, presses for that course to be taken. It would mean that the maritime oversight of Watermen, who remain locally registered, would fall within the responsibility of the City Council who have professional staff able to carry out the inspection role and who would administer the function alongside their existing licensing regime, the criteria of which is identical to the Waterman's in all respects bar the length of time required to obtain the licence.

### 3 Risk Assessment

3.1 The consultation on the Boatmasters Regulations offers a sensible way forward for this Council to transfer Waterman's licenses to the

City Council and abolish the outdated legislation which requires the two councils to support a Portsmouth and Gosport Joint Board. This route would also potentially significantly reduce the costs of both councils in not having to promote a Harbour Revision Order to abolish primary legislation.

### 4 Conclusion

4.1 The recommendations are made to abolish an outdated institution whose role can be carried out in another way that is more economic and convenient to administer. Safety and navigation will continue as a priority and no diminution of safety standards is proposed.

Financial Services comments:	Paragraph 1.5 refers
Legal Services comments:	Contained in the report
Service Improvement Plan	None
implications:	
Corporate Plan:	None
Risk Assessment:	See Section 3
Background papers:	None
Appendices/Enclosures:	None
Report author/ Lead Officer:	Linda Edwards, Borough Solicitor